

Social Bonds A New Variant of 'Lend-Lease' to Rebuild Ukraine

Michael Cholod Geoffrey Goodell Fen Osler Hampson David Scheffer Jon Unruh



February 2024



Acknowledgments

The authors would like to acknowledge the support of the World Refugee & Migration Council, the Peace Coalition, the Alan Turing Institute, the Bill and Melinda Gates Foundation via grant INV-001309, and The Raoul Wallenberg Centre for Human Rights in preparing this Policy Brief.

The authors would also like to acknowledge the contributions of the Hon. Allan Rock, the Hon. Lloyd Axworthy, the Hon. Irwin Cotler, Senator Ratna Omidvar, Tomaso Aste, Ryan Turnbull, and three anonymous reviewers.

Cover Image

Ukrainians show unity in the struggle for an independent Ukraine in Kyiv August 2022. (Photo: Sergey Dolzhenko/EPA-EFE/Shutterstock).

Copyright © 2024 by the World Refugee & Migration Council

World Refugee & Migration Council (WRMC) publications provide information to support the work of the Council, but do not necessarily reflect the views of the Council itself or the members of the Canadian Task Force Against Global Corruption. As a global thought leader, the WRMC is committed to bringing new ideas and proposals forward to the global community through its publications program. Publications are subjected to independent peer review. The views, thoughts, and opinions expressed in the text belong solely to the author(s) and not the World Refugee & Migration Council, its members, or the members of its various Task Forces. As an independent nonpartisan body, the Council does not take a position or endorse the views that are expressed in its publications. The Council does not assume any injury and/or damage to persons or property as a matter of liability, negligence, or otherwise, of from any use or application of any ideas or proposals contained in the published material.

This work is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution – Noncommercial – No Derivatives License. To view this license, visit Creative Commons. For re-use or distribution, please include this copyright notice.



World Refugee & Migration Council 800-123, rue Slater Street Ottawa, ON, K1P 5H2 wrmcouncil.org

Contents

1.	Introduction	4
2.	Methods	5
3.	A Social Bond for private-sector investment	6
	3.1. How the bond works	6
	3.2. Collateralizing via a first-priority lien	7
	3.3. The bond would not be an obligation of Ukraine	8
4.	Issues for G7+ governments and syndicate banks	10
5.	The 'Russia Risk'	13
6.	Conclusion	14
Author bios		15
References		16

1. Introduction

International supporters of Ukraine are increasingly reluctant to fund what will undoubtedly be a massive reconstruction effort for the country — the amount now increasing into the hundreds of billions to possibly over a trillion dollars.¹ With the ongoing targeting of civilian residential areas and critical infrastructure by Russian forces, and almost certain refusal by Western taxpayers to fund the total costs of reconstruction, alternative ways must be found. This includes efforts to identify multinational approaches to raise the necessary reconstruction funds.

Various ideas are emerging about mobilising funds. Several countries are moving forward now with the legal and financial arrangements to facilitate 'repurposing' (confiscating) assets currently frozen under sanctions regimes. These efforts will require considerable time (delaying reconstruction efforts) as they face legal constraints under existing international law and confront legal challenges by the oligarchs set to lose assets in different national jurisdictions. Even if these legal obstacles can be surmounted, political challenges remain. Some countries fear that Russia will retaliate by seizing their assets in Russia or that Russia will default on its obligations to foreign investors and bondholders.² This paper, in contrast, examines the modalities of a promising 'social bond' alternative financial innovation instrument.

The alternative approach described here circumvents the legal and political roadblocks noted above by bringing the private sector into the process and leveraging the considerable capital this sector could potentially provide. By creating a mechanism to issue 'Social Bonds' for Ukraine's reconstruction, the vast resources of the private sector can be mobilised for Ukraine's reconstruction in the near term. This gets around a primary problem in post-war reconstruction efforts: that it can take an unacceptably long time to obtain funds in the amounts needed to move forward with reconstruction — with significant negative socio-political, humanitarian and economic repercussions. The approach described here 'time shifts' the money from the future to the present so that funding for reconstruction and victim restitution can occur expeditiously and in a controlled and responsible fashion.³ The International Finance Facility has taken a similar approach for

¹ Estimates of reconstruction, including providing compensation to victims and returning to normal economic capacity, range from <u>\$411 billion</u>, to over \$1.5 trillion.

² While the legal constructs for repurposing frozen assets are in some cases advancing apace—in the UK, for example, <u>six legal avenues</u> to repurpose the frozen state assets of an aggressor nation are being developed; Canada acted under new legislation it introduced in 2022 to forfeit sanctioned Russian assets in two cases — many other jurisdictions have yet to follow suit.

³ While reconstruction efforts have conventionally waited until after a war ends, the international community is now moving robustly away from this. This occurs with the realization that preparations for reparations; immediate reconstruction needs during war in order to house the massive, displaced population; and the political, humanitarian, and economic costs for not engaging in reparations in a timely manner become unacceptably high.

Immunisation (IFFIm) to 'time shift' future donor payments for wide-scale immunisation programs.

Like others, the innovation described here uses the well-established precedent that the aggressor state is liable for war-related reparations. Beginning with Rome in 241 BC, aggressor state liability for war reparations came to be used extensively during the last century. Since World War I, Germany, Japan, Bulgaria, China, Italy and France, among others, have paid significant reparations. And importantly, the Soviet Union received reparations from Germany, Italy, Hungary, Romania, and Finland following World War II.

The West has at its disposal the financial sophistication, logistical organisation, political will and consensus to move forward now with innovations in financing to rebuild Ukraine — with implications for future conflicts. Urgency is mounting as the enormity of the endeavour (particularly the costs of a destructive war) looms; the capacity of Russia and associated oligarchs to pay becomes more apparent; and the humanitarian, economic and political repercussions of not acting promptly threaten Ukraine and countries well beyond its borders.

2. Methods

The Social Bond concept described in this paper is the result of many in-person interviews with international legal experts, economists, social impact investors and investment banking professionals as part of an initiative undertaken by the Peace Coalition⁴ on behalf of the Social Innovation and Social Finance Caucus of the Government of Canada, chaired by MP Ryan Turnbull. It also draws from proposals by Alison Lawton and Lauren Casey for a Canadian Ukrainian Social Impact Reconstruction Trust Fund.

In addition, research on repurposing Russian assets for rebuilding Ukraine by the <u>World Migration & Refugee Council</u> and the <u>New Lines Institute</u>, including inperson interviews with the authors of these reports, have also been used to develop the concept outlined here. 5

⁴ The Peace Coalition is a non-profit association focused on promoting peace by combining research, policy guidance and on-the-ground support for compensation, restitution and rebuilding for victims of displacement due to war and climate change. <u>https://www.thepeacecoalition.com</u>

3. A Social Bond for private-sector investment

The Social Bond proposal intends to involve private capital markets and investors in financing humanitarian aid by time-shifting the obligation for future reparations tariff payments to the present day. The construct takes advantage of an innovation in the claims process for housing, land and property (HLP) restitution in war-affected states, whereby claims for compensation by victims who have had their HLP damaged or destroyed by Russian forces can be purchased by investors, who then own the claim. The money paid to the victim to purchase the claim can be used for reconstruction in the near term. In previous HLP restitution and compensation processes in war-affected states, such claims were closed once the U.N., with assistance from the donor community, paid the claimed amount to the victims. In this innovation, however, the claims are monetised, by being purchased by an investor, who can then act to obtain the value of the claim, plus a percentage, from future tariff revenue.

Figure 1. A schematic representation of asset transfers in the context of the Social Bond



3.1. How the bond works

Restitution claims are collected into a pooled 'special-purpose vehicle' (SPV) established by one or more governments of G7+ countries (henceforth, the 'orchestrating nations'), which would then issue a security (the 'Social Bond') held by an Investment Fund marketed to investors seeking income. Investors would

purchase partnership units of the Investment Fund and contribute capital immediately or in a series of capital calls.

The Investment Fund would contribute the investment proceeds to a Reconstruction Fund, the assets of which would be made available to rebuild Ukraine. As restitution claims are paid, the SPV would remunerate the Investment Fund. Investors would eventually be paid by the Investment Fund in the form of dividends or redemption of their investment units, subject to certain limitations, such as a 'lockup period', wherein they cannot redeem units of their investment in the Investment Fund for a specified period.

If the Reconstruction Fund does not immediately require the funds received from investors, or if the income received from payment of claims held by the SPV is not immediately remitted to investors, then the Investment Fund may have the option to invest in other, liquid securities, such as short-term sovereign debt, in the meantime. Meanwhile, the Reconstruction Fund would provide money to be used in rebuilding Ukraine via payments to some combination of claimants, contractors providing goods and labour for rebuilding, and organisations tasked with developing and operating the claims process, compliance procedures, and other requisite mechanisms and services.

3.2. Collateralizing via a first-priority lien

Frozen assets, for example, those owned by the Russian Federation and other liable parties and which are held in abroad accounts, such as Euroclear, would be used to collateralise the investment in the SPV. The details of how these assets are to be collateralised are essential. We propose that the SPV be granted a firstpriority lien on those frozen assets to collateralise the bonds. (It is crucial to remember that a lien is a legal claim against a creditor's assets, used as collateral until the debt or obligation is paid. Unlike outright confiscation, it is a form of encumbrance or restraint where the claim is only exercised if the creditor fails to fulfil his/her obligations.)

In addition, reparations claimants would have to grant reparation claims to the SPV as the user of the funds raised by those bonds. The terms of such an arrangement would have to be formally negotiated, but we believe the incentives for the relevant parties to reach a mutually beneficial arrangement would be aligned.

Such an arrangement would also require the introduction of enacting legislation or an application through the courts in those jurisdictions where the assets are held to allow the liens to be 'perfected' so that assets are not liquidated in favour of other parties, such as the Russian Federation, or other claimants without satisfying the lien holder, in this case, the SPV, first. If reparations tariff revenue (discussed below) is insufficient to cover Social Bond payment obligations within a specified period, the lien could be enacted under the proposed legislation, and the assets could potentially be seized to pay the outstanding obligations to Social Bondholders. Alternatively, state guarantors could pay the outstanding obligations directly.

It is worth noting that the frozen assets would not be transferred from the belligerent actors to Ukraine, as some have proposed. Instead, they would be effectively under the control of the SPV through the lien until Russia's 'debt' (i.e., outstanding obligations to Social Bondholders) is discharged and, accordingly, only used to repay the investors if sufficient revenue from tariffs is not realised within the agreed timeframe and state guarantors choose not to repay the remaining obligations directly. Ukraine would not receive such revenue directly or be exposed to the apparent risk of such a transfer.

The risk management challenge of the orchestrating nations is to work out an arrangement to ensure that the SPV is paid, which, as we noted below, would come from the imposition of reparations tariffs on business with the belligerent actors and a lien in the relevant jurisdictions and states where frozen assets are held.

3.3. The bond would not be an obligation of Ukraine

Rather than put the burden to repay the social bond on the government and people of Ukraine, the obligation to repay the bond would be an obligation enforced by international law of the orchestrating nations, funded not by taxpayers but by some combination of tariff revenue from trade that would otherwise be subject to sanctions, the proceeds of frozen assets of belligerent actors deemed to be responsible for the war, payments by the states sponsoring or protecting other non-state actors (hereafter, the 'belligerent actors'), or payments by other state and non-state actors. There may or may not be a contingent liability for the orchestrating nations, depending upon whether they agree to take on the risk of applying a lien on the holdings of belligerent actors; however, Ukraine would not have contingent liability but would be the beneficiary of the capital raised through the issuance of these bonds. And so, unlike similar peace bonds issued in the past, Ukraine would not be borrowing at all.

One might compare this collective action on the part of the orchestrating nations to the Lend-Lease agreement between the U.S. and its allies during the Second World War. Although there is nothing that Ukraine would be expected to return or repay at the end of the war, there is an expectation that Ukraine would continue to stand between the orchestrating nations and the parties that would undermine their interests, not to mention the opportunity for profit by private contractors from the orchestrating nations.

It is better to give, rather than lend, money to Ukraine because Ukraine should not bear the burden of chasing the government of the Russian Federation or other liable parties for payments to the Social Bond investors because this would be counterproductive, Further, Ukraine does not have the resources to pursue such a course of action. In a lending scenario, should Ukraine fail to secure payments from responsible parties, investors will not get their money, and Ukraine will be blamed for something it was never well-positioned to accomplish. Structured in the manner we describe, the Social Bond leaves the management of tariffs and trade to G7+ institutions, which is more appropriate, paving the way to implement separate compliance and accountability mechanisms, such as the ones we have separately described in the issuance of the <u>emergency financing tokens</u> scheme (Goodell 2023), to ensure that funds are not misspent.

4. Issues for G7+ governments and syndicate banks

Governments and banks must address essential questions about structure and marketability in constructing a Social Bond. These include:

- A) What would be the yield necessary to have investors take the risk that sufficient tariff-eligible trade with belligerent actors would be slower than anticipated or that G7+ sympathetic governments or the businesses in their jurisdictions would never pay for recovery and reconstruction?
- B) How big should the first bond issue be, and what volume of new investments can be raised for Ukraine via this mechanism each year? How long would raising sufficient funds to fully satisfy Ukraine's rebuilding requirements take?
- C) Assuming that a Social Bond would entitle investors to a specific tranche of repayment revenue, how large would this tranche be?
- D) Assuming that the Social Bond entitles investors to a stream of cash flows starting at a particular time in the future, then what would be the frequency of the cash flows? How large could each cash flow potentially be? Would there be a size limit such that if the received payments exceed some maximum, the SPV would hold the remainder, which could be used for subsequent payments?
- E) Assuming that investors in the Social Bond would accept some risk surrounding the timing of tariff revenues, in contrast to receiving a set of guaranteed payments from one or more orchestrating governments at the time of investment, then how much of a premium would investors be willing to pay for this bond over straight sovereign debt of the same duration without this risk?
- F) Would it be necessary for orchestrating governments to provide some guarantee that Social Bond investors would receive a specified minimum set of cash flows or that they would receive payment in full within some maximum length of time?

It is not necessary for successful liquidation or the value of the assets following liquidation to be assessed *ab initio*. There is some legal risk associated with liquidation, although we can argue that such risk is small in the event of war between the orchestrating nations and the responsible belligerents. Furthermore, the purpose of holding the assets is not to liquidate them but to enable the fair exchange of assets of equal or greater value for the value of the frozen assets. In the meantime, the orchestrating nations can hold the frozen assets indefinitely, and the implicit threat of liquidation and the reality of possession in perpetuity by

the orchestrating nations should be sufficient conditions to establish the value of this fair exchange.

There is also a related question of the value of the frozen assets, whether for liquidation or the purpose of exchange. However, it is technically impossible to price them appropriately in the market without liquidating them. Consider, for example, how asset managers model the value of other illiquid assets, such as real estate.

Without doubt, the purpose of involving the frozen assets is not to dispose of the assets but to enable governments to argue that they are not introducing new government liabilities, which taxpayers would eventually have to cover, or that any such new liabilities are of a smaller size than they otherwise would be. When the bond matures, the political and economic situation will be different. For example, agreements for a significant volume of tariff-eligible trade might be in place, sovereign bond markets might be more amenable to new debt, or (as must be acknowledged) the situation between orchestrating nations and belligerent actors may have escalated to war. The issue of potential liquidation, including its legal, political, and economic risks, can be reconsidered in that future context.

The orchestrating nations could also underwrite the bond. If the requisite legal arrangements have not been made and the SPV has not received cash payments by the bond's maturity date, then the orchestrating nations would pay directly. Of course, if the orchestrating nations simply underwrite the bond, then the investors are not participating in the risks associated with non-payment (or late payment) resulting from a lack of tariff-eligible trade with belligerent actors. The return on the bond then would be the same as for vanilla borrowing by the orchestrating nations, for which the orchestrating nations would face the responsibility of establishing tariff-eligible trade without the involvement of investors.

This social bond aims to involve private-sector investors in ensuring that trade eligible for reparations tariffs will take place. Indeed, the proposed social bond intends for asset managers to be paid back on time and with interest. However, this repayment cannot be fully guaranteed by the orchestrating nations; otherwise, the interest rate on the bond would be identical to sovereign debt and, therefore, uninteresting. But investors in the Social Bond would want a higher return, which means more risk (the payout on the bonds could, for example, also come from the interest accruing on the "frozen" Russian holdings). There are several possible approaches which can be combined to convince 'savvy but bold' bond investors that they will be paid, rather than asking them to take on all the risk of being paid late or not at all, but without washing out all of the risks:

1. **Convertible.** The social bond can be converted, at the option of the bondholder, to (possibly preferred, with appropriate tranches) equity shares issued by the SPV, which is entitled to receive payments from

reparations tariffs on eligible trade with belligerent actors in the future. Because this option has value, the yield on the bond without this option will be lower than the yield of a vanilla sovereign bond issued by the orchestrating nations and possibly negative. For the Social Bond to have value, it will be necessary for the unconverted bond to have a significantly lower yield (i.e. higher premium) than the vanilla bond of equal duration. Ideally, the yield would be negative, meaning investors value the promised cash flows enough to pay for them. Would investors be happy to accept a deal in which they receive only 80%, or even less, of their money back if they don't convert to an equity stake in the cash flows from the belligerent actors? Since there is every reason to have confidence in the orchestrating nations ensuring that these cash flows happen, they should. The frozen assets can support this confidence.

- 2. Payment-in-kind and callable. The bond can be structured with a significantly longer maturity date, and one or more times before maturity, the SPV can have the option to repay the investors with more bonds rather than cash. This can be equivalent to an agreement allowing the SPV to defer payment, with a mutually agreeable upside to investors, if it cannot pay on time.
- **3.** With downside protection. The orchestrating nations can partially underwrite the bond, promising private-sector investors some fraction of their initial investment in the event of default. Financially, from an investor's perspective, this is not different from investing some fraction of a portfolio in a risk-free sovereign bond and some fraction in a Social Bond.
- 4. With co-investment. The orchestrating nations buy some of the bonds, thereby sharing the risk with the private-sector investors and thus providing both incentive alignment and a powerful partner in ensuring that reparations tariff-eligible trade is established and ultimately pays. This could send a powerful message to investors.

5. The 'Russia Risk'

The Social Bond reflects how the world will eventually decide to pay for the reconstruction of Ukraine. The world can establish a reparations tariff regime upon belligerent actors if it chooses, irrespective of what such actors want. Or the world can nominate someone else to pay. In Russia's vision of the future, perhaps reparations or tariff-eligible trade will not occur, and Western governments and taxpayers will be on the hook for Ukraine's reconstruction. The proposed Social Bond can be structured to ensure that the proceeds from whoever pays are channelled through the Special Purpose Vehicle. The only real risks are (a) the risk that the sovereign G7+ governments that sponsor the SPV and issue its securities are deposed or might choose to renege on such an arrangement and (b) the risk that the world decides rebuilding Ukraine is not worth supporting after the war. We sincerely doubt either of these scenarios will come to pass.

When the bankers refer to '<u>Russia Risk</u>', they are referencing a phenomenon in which contracts between foreign firms and Russian partners can fail if the government of the Russian Federation unilaterally decides that an arrangement does not further the interests of the Russian state. Infamous in capital markets since well before the 2014 invasion of Ukraine, and best characterised by <u>Julia Kusznir</u>: 'The government was not efficient enough in providing services to the private sector. This led to the establishment of alternative institutions which often operated by using not fully legitimate methods.'. <u>Liuhto</u> cites telecommunications and energy as two industries that are particularly affected by this phenomenon, and in retrospect, it is plain to see why.

This affects not only foreign investment in Russian businesses but also Russian investment in foreign businesses. In that context, one example is private capital funds that perform capital calls after their agreements are inked. This was and still is a significant risk when dealing with Russia, <u>amplified by the war</u>. Of course, 'Russia Risk' construed in this way is utterly unrelated to the risk of the Social Bond, wherein the issuing countries already have the assets and can either repurpose them directly or hold them to incentivise the obligated party to make payments. In any case, governments (or their taxpayers) may take on some of the risk that restitution claims are never paid. If investors have an appetite to assume some of the risks along with governments, they should expect a higher return for doing so.

When considering the potential market for a Rebuild Ukraine investment instrument, it is essential to recognise that the risk profile of Social Bonds would not be considered 'Russia Risk' because tariffs, as well as the potential to repay using taxpayer money or even make use of frozen assets, are decisions taken by the orchestrating nations, and not by belligerent actors.

6. Conclusion

Although we anticipate that the clients of belligerent actors, such as the Russian Federation, would be compelled to provide payment, either directly or indirectly, to rebuild Ukraine in the fullness of time, the rebuilding of Ukraine must start now. The scale of the damage and destruction wrought in Ukraine requires global coordination of financial mechanisms that support the investment objectives of private investors who can provide the funds needed today. No one country, the taxpayers of G7+ governments in the aggregate, or philanthropic donors can afford to donate or underwrite a sufficiently large rebuilding package, and partial rebuilding is not an option. Furthermore, G7+ governments and taxpayers cannot afford to pay to rebuild Ukraine. This socially innovative solution should be piloted, compared, and evaluated against other more conventional options.

Although the purpose of the bond is to benefit Ukraine, Ukraine is not the obligor, and we imagine that it would not be appropriate to consider this bond to be an emerging market bond (irrespective of whether it is considered suitable for an emerging market portfolio). This is a developed market bond issued by the orchestrating nations, designed to entitle bondholders to the first tranche of proceeds from reparations tariffs levied on trade with belligerent actors. The commitment of the orchestrating nations to facilitate, coordinate, and enforce a common reparations regime might take more time than anticipated. It might mean that orchestrating nations ultimately decide to accept the burden of payment, although planning to do this at the outset will be politically and fiscally unpalatable, depriving the investors of the risk needed to justify a greater return.

There is no shortage of investors who seek out performance in exchange for risk that can be pushed into the future. Maybe these investors are not fund managers or allocators with indexed sleeves but their clients instead. Perhaps some investors want to do this but need the government (or trustees, and so on) to expressly authorise an investment in something that incorporates a new kind of risk.

Author bios

Michael Cholod is Executive Director of The Peace Coalition, an international, nonprofit association of NGOs, academic institutions and independent experts developing a comprehensive package of policy, technology, and practical guidance aimed at preserving Peace by putting a price on War in the hopes of preventing future conflict.

Geoffrey Goodell is a Lecturer in Financial Computing at University College London whose work focuses on socio-technical systems in financial services. He is a member of the Bank of England CBDC Technology Forum and an associate of the Systemic Risk Centre at the London School of Economics. He serves on the steering committee of the All-Party Parliamentary Group on Central Bank Digital Currency and the product advisory committee of the Digital Token Identifier Foundation. He convenes multiple ISO working groups and advises two European industry groups that focus on digital assets. His research contributes to knowledge and policy at the intersection of finance, technology, and regulation.

Fen Osler Hampson is currently Chancellor's Professor and Professor of International Affairs at Carleton University. Professor Hampson was Director of the Global Commission on Internet Governance (GCIG) and is the President of the World Refugee & Migration Council. Professor Hampson holds a Ph.D. from Harvard University where he also received his A.M. degree. He also holds an MSc. (Econ.) degree from the London School of Economics and a B.A. (Hon.) from the University of Toronto. A Fellow of the Royal Society of Canada, he is the author or co-author of 15 books and editor or co-editor of 33 other volumes.

David J. Scheffer is a Professor of Practice at Arizona State University (Washington, D.C.), a Senior Fellow of the Council on Foreign Relations, and former U.S. Ambassador at Large for War Crimes Issues (1997-2001).

Jon Unruh is a professor at McGill University in Canada. Dr. Unruh has over 30 years of experience in developing and implementing research, policy and practice on war-affected housing, land and property rights systems and has published widely on these topics. He has worked with a variety of international agencies, governments and donors on the establishment of restitution/compensation programmes for housing, land and property in war-affected countries, including: UN agencies, NATO, The World Bank, OSCE, USAID, US State Department, Canadian Department of Foreign Affairs and International Trade, and The Japanese Global Infrastructure Foundation, among others.

References

Allianz. 'Country Risk Report Russia.' April 2022. https://www.allianz.com/en/economic_research/publications/countryrisk/russia.html

Becker T. 2023. The E.U. cannot afford not to support Ukraine financially. Stockholm Centre for Eastern European Studies, Eastern Europe Policy No. 32. <u>https://sceeus.se/en/publications/the-eu-cannot-afford-not-to-support-ukraine-financially/</u>

Cohen P and Alderman L. 2023. The world's largest construction site: the race is on to rebuild Ukraine. The New York Times. Feb 16. <u>https://www.nytimes.com/2023/02/16/business/economy/ukraine-</u> <u>rebuilding.html</u>

De Greiff P. 2006. The Handbook of Reparations. Oxford University Press.

Goodell G, Toliver D, and Nakib. H. 2022. 'A Scalable Architecture for Electronic Payments."*Lecture Notes in Computer Science*13412. http://dx.doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.3951988

Goodell G. 2023. Emergency Financing Tokens. Working paper, 2023-10-09. <u>http://arxiv.org/abs/2310.05432</u>

Grant T. 2022. Multilateral action model on reparations. The Newlines Institute, Intelligence Briefing, October 25. <u>https://newlinesinstitute.org/ukraine/multilateral-action-model-on-reparations/</u>

Haase D, Schwarcz A. 2023. Ukraine: financing of reconstruction and the role of the E.U. budget. Policy Department for Budgetary Affairs, European Parliament. <u>https://www.europarl.europa.eu/RegData/etudes/BRIE/2023/751219/IPOL_BRI(2023)751219_EN.pdf</u>

Kusznir, J. 'Doing Business in Russia: The main political risks and challenges for international companies.' In J Leitner and H Meissner, eds. State Capture, Political Risks and International Business Cases from Black Sea Region Countries, pp. 89-107. Routledge, November 2016.

https://www.researchgate.net/publication/320475170_Doing_Business_in_Russia _The_main_political_risks_and_challenges_for_international_companies

Lawton, Alison and Lauren Casey, *Canadian Ukrainian Social Impact Reconstruction Trust Fund*, Ottawa: World Refugee & Migration Council, 2023. https://wrmcouncil.org/publications/canadian-ukrainian-social-impact-reconstruction-trust-fund/ Liuhto, K. 'Political Risk for Foreign Firms in Russia.' Romanian Journal of Economic Forecasting, March 2010. https://ipe.ro/rjef/rjef3_10/rjef3_10_9.pdf

Nebehay S. 2022. Iraq pays last chunk of \$52.4 billion Gulf War reparations - U.N. Reuters, February 9. <u>https://www.reuters.com/world/middle-east/iraq-pays-last-chunk-524-billion-gulf-war-reparations-un-2022-02-09/</u>

The World Bank. 2023. Updated Ukraine recovery and reconstruction needs assessment. The World Bank, March 23. <u>https://www.worldbank.org/en/news/press-release/2023/03/23/updated-ukraine-recovery-and-reconstruction-needs-assessment</u>

Van Houtte H, Das H, Delmartino B. 2006. The United Nations Compensation Commission, In de Greiff P (ed), The Handbook of Reparations, Oxford University Press.

World Refugee & Migration Council (WRMC) 2022. Frozen Russian assets and the reconstruction of Ukraine. World Refugee and Migration Council, Ottawa, Canada. <u>https://www.wrmcouncil.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/07/Frozen-Russian-Assets-Ukraine-Legal-Options-Report-WRMC-July2022.pdf</u>

World Refugee & Migration Council (WRMC) 2023. Canada's approach to seizing frozen assets and holding leaders to account. World Refugee and Migration Council, Ottawa, Canada. <u>https://wrmcouncil.org/publications/leading-by-example/</u>

Ziskina Y. 2023. Multilateral asset transfer: a proposal for ensuring reparations for Ukraine. Newlines Institute for Strategy and Policy, June.<u>https://newlinesinstitute.org/governance/multilateral-framework-for-transferring-state-assets/</u>

World Refugee & Migration Council

The World Refugee & Migration Council offers bold thinking on how the international community can respond to refugees and the forcibly displaced through cooperation & responsibility sharing.

wrmcouncil.org

Twitter.com/wrmcouncil Facebook.com/wrmcouncil

info@wrmcouncil.org

